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Appellant Wiese. Jeremy Gutman (Stuart London, Worth Longworth Bamundo & London, on the brief) New
York, NY, for Defendant-Appellant Bruder. Barbara D. Underwood, Chief Assistant United States Attorney
(Loretta E. Lynch, United States Attorney for the Eastern District of New York, Alan M. Vinegrad, David C.
James, and Lauren Resnick, Assistant United States Attorneys, on the brief), Brooklyn, NY, for Appellee. Mark
F. Pomerantz, Paul, Weiss, Rifkind, Wharton & Garrison (Clifford Chance Rogers & Wells LLP and Newman &
Greenberg, on the brief), New York, NY, for Amicus Curiae The New York Council of Defense Lawyers.
Defendants-Appellants Charles Schwarz, Thomas Bruder, and Thomas Wiese appeal from their convictions,
after two jury trials, on charges brought related to the events surrounding the brutal assault on Abner Louima
in the early hours of August 9, 1997, while he was in custody at the 70th Police Precinct in Brooklyn, New York,
and its aftermath.
The three appellants and defendant Justin Volpe were ultimately charged, in a twelve-count superseding
indictment handed down on March 3, 1999, with conspiracy to deprive and with depriving Louima of his civil
rights, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 241 and 242, by assaulting him in a police car (“the car assaults”); Schwarz
and Volpe were charged with conspiracy to deprive and with depriving Louima of his civil rights by sexually
assaulting him in the bathroom of the 70th Precinct; and Schwarz, Bruder, and Wiese were charged with
conspiracy to obstruct justice, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 371 and 1503, by lying to state and federal
prosecutors in an effort to exculpate Schwarz with respect to the bathroom assault. See United States v.
Volpe, 42 F.Supp.2d 204, 208 (E.D.N.Y.1999). In addition, Volpe and defendant Michael Bellomo were
charged with various offenses in connection with an arrest unrelated to the assaults on Louima. Id. Neither
Volpe nor Bellomo are appellants in this appeal. The district court severed the charge of conspiracy to
obstruct justice (Count Twelve) from the remaining counts, which were tried first.
Prior to the close of the first trial, before the government rested and out of the jury's presence, Volpe entered a
guilty plea to six of the seven counts with which he was charged, including assaulting Louima in the patrol car
and in the bathroom. See United States v. Volpe, 78 F.Supp.2d 76, 81 (E.D.N.Y.1999). At the end of that
trial, the jury found Schwarz guilty of both conspiring to violate and violating Louima's civil rights based on the
bathroom assault, but acquitted Schwarz, Wiese, and Bruder of all charges related to the car assaults.
At the second trial, the jury found Wiese, Bruder, and Schwarz guilty on the single charge at issue: conspiracy
to obstruct a federal grand jury proceeding based on their statements to various investigators to the effect that
Schwarz did not participate in the bathroom assault.
On June 27, 2000, the United States District Court for the Eastern District of New York (Eugene H. Nickerson,
District Judge ) sentenced Schwarz to 188 months of imprisonment, five years of supervised release with a
special prohibition on possession of a firearm, and a special assessment of $300, and ordered restitution to
Louima in the amount of $277,495. See United States v. Bruder, 103 F.Supp.2d 155, 185 (E.D.N.Y.2000).
Bruder and Wiese were each sentenced to 60 month prison terms, three years of supervised release with a
special prohibition on possession of a firearm, and a $100 special assessment. See id. at 190.
Appellants raise a host of challenges to their convictions. We discuss only those claims that are dispositive of
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this case and intimate no view on other issues on appeal that we have found unnecessary to address. The first
part of our discussion will review the facts and proceedings relevant to the first trial, and will then consider
Schwarz's challenges to that trial, specifically addressing: (A) whether Schwarz's attorney labored under an
unwaivable conflict of interest that required his disqualification; and (B) whether the district court erred in
denying without a hearing Schwarz's motion for a new trial based on the jury's exposure during jury
deliberations to extrinsic information that Volpe's guilty plea referred to another police officer in the
bathroom. The second part of our discussion will review the facts and proceedings relevant to the second trial
and will consider the challenge made by all three appellants with respect to their convictions at the second
trial: that there was insufficient evidence that appellants conspired to obstruct a federal grand jury
investigation, as required by 18 U.S.C. § 1503.
For the reasons that follow, we hold that Schwarz's convictions for the civil rights violations must be vacated
and remanded for a new trial because his attorney's unwaivable conflict of interest denied him effective
assistance of counsel and because the jury was improperly exposed to prejudicial extrinsic information during
jury deliberations. We also hold that all three appellants' convictions at the second trial for conspiracy to
obstruct justice must be reversed for insufficient evidence.
THE FIRST TRIAL
I. Factual Background 1
A. Pre-trial Proceedings
Shortly after the assault on Louima in August 1997, the law firm that represented the Policeman's Benevolent
Association (“PBA”), the police officers' union, hired Stephen Worth and Stuart London as trial counsel to
represent Schwarz and Bruder respectively. Both attorneys were hired as outside conflict counsel to avoid any
conflicts of interest that might arise if the PBA's regular retained law firm were to represent multiple
defendants. Worth's and London's fees were to be paid by the PBA.
In February 1998, after Schwarz had been indicted by the federal grand jury, Worth, London, and some other
attorneys formed a law firm, Worth, Longworth & Bamundo, LLP (the “Worth firm”). In May 1998, the
Worth firm entered into a two-year $10 million retainer agreement with the PBA (the “PBA retainer”) to
represent all police officers in administrative, disciplinary, and criminal matters as well as to provide them
with civil legal representation. After entering into the PBA retainer, Worth and London agreed to continue
their representation of Schwarz and Bruder without charging further fees beyond the PBA retainer.
Shortly after learning of the formation of the Worth firm and its agreement with the PBA, the government
wrote a letter to the district court dated May 28, 1998, to advise it of potential conflicts of interest arising from
the joint representation of Schwarz and Bruder by partners in the same law firm and from the Worth firm's
PBA retainer. The government urged the district court to conduct a hearing pursuant to United States v.
Curcio, 680 F.2d 881 (2d Cir.1982).
Worth, on behalf of himself and London, wrote a letter to the district court dated June 17, 1998, to provide
details concerning these issues. The letter asserted that no substitution of counsel was needed, in part
because the Worth firm had not represented any PBA officials or delegates that had been called to testify
before the grand jury, and in part because “[t]here is no de facto conflict between the respective defenses of
Officer Schwarz and Officer Bruder. In fact, it was and is our intention to move for separate trials ․ because
Officer Bruder can offer testimony which is exculpatory in nature.” Worth's letter informed the court that
Schwarz and Bruder had been advised about the potential conflicts and were prepared to waive their right to
conflict-free counsel, but it made no mention of Wiese or whether Wiese's defenses might conflict with
Schwarz's. Wiese, like Schwarz and Bruder, was a member of the PBA; he was also one of its elected
delegates.
Schwarz and Bruder submitted identical affidavits stating that they understood the potential conflicts raised by
being represented by attorneys from the same law firm and that they agreed “that our separate and joint
defenses to these charges are such that one defendant's defense will have no impact on the other defendant's
defense, since there is no inconsistency in our defenses. In fact the defenses dovetail with each other.” Both
defendants asserted that they wanted to keep Worth and London as their counsel. The affidavits made no
mention of any potential conflicts that might arise in connection with the PBA retainer.
The government, Worth, and London filed additional letters with the district court fleshing out the areas of
potential conflict. These letters focused primarily on the dangers of two defendants being represented by the
same law firm and on potential conflicts that might arise if PBA officials and delegates were called as witnesses
at the trial. With respect to the latter, the Government expressed the view that “the Worth firm's
representation of both the instant defendants and the PBA represents an actual conflict [that] cannot be
waived.” Worth and London argued that disqualification of the attorneys without a Curcio hearing would
violate Schwarz's and Bruder's Sixth Amendment right to counsel of their choice. They also urged that there
was no unwaivable conflict, stating that “if this Court's concern focuses on the relationship of the PBA with the
various defendants and witnesses, that concern is illusory” because there was no showing that the government
would call any PBA witnesses and, in any event, the law firm had not and would not represent any other PBA
witnesses or parties. Thus, the only conflict presented, they argued, arose from the joint representation of
Schwarz and Bruder by the Worth firm-a conflict that could be waived by the defendants.
On September 11, 1998, with the first trial still several months away, the district judge held a hearing in which
he advised Schwarz and Bruder regarding the risks presented by the potential conflicts. The district judge
told Schwarz and Bruder that while he could not foresee all of the potential conflicts that might arise, some of

the potential conflicts with respect to the joint representation of Schwarz and Bruder by the same law firm
included that (1) defense counsel might not offer independent advice concerning the benefits of taking a plea
bargain or testifying in court because it would be detrimental to “the other one of you”; (2) “[t]here may be
some defense that could be made or evidence offered that helps one of you but hurts the other one”; (3) the
attorney may not be able to independently judge whether to cross-examine or impeach a witness that “helps
one of you but hurts the other one” or whether to offer reputation evidence or argue “that one of you is less
[culpable] than the other one”; and (4) defense counsel might inadvertently or deliberately reveal confidences
covered by the attorney-client privilege to his partner representing the other defendant. Hr'g Tr. dated Sept.
11, 1998, at 9-11.
In describing conflicts that might arise in connection with the PBA retainer, the district judge noted that the
PBA and its president, Lou Matarazzo, who had signed the PBA retainer, were defendants in a civil suit that
had been filed by Louima. Id. at 12. Louima's suit alleged a conspiracy among the PBA (through its agents),
Matarazzo, and the criminal defendants to injure Louima and to cover up the conspiracy, and raised claims of
negligent supervision and monitoring. The district judge informed Schwarz and Bruder that what occurred in
the criminal case could have a significant effect on the civil case and that the testimony in the criminal case
would be relevant to the civil case. Id. at 12-13. The district judge also told the two defendants that the PBA's
and Matarazzo's interests might differ from those of Schwarz and Bruder in, for example, pleading guilty,
testifying, or cross-examining witnesses, and that these different interests might affect counsel's ability to offer
advice that was in the defendants' best interests. Id. The district judge concluded his advice by observing that
“it would be unrealistic to suppose that the beneficiaries of a ten-million-dollar contract, which evidently the
firm hopes will be renewed in the year 2000, would be indifferent to the welfare of the PBA.” Id. at 13.
Following the hearing, the district court issued an order scheduling a Curcio hearing, appointing independent
counsel to advise Schwarz and Bruder, and prohibiting the Worth firm from representing the PBA or any of its
members other than Schwarz and Bruder in the Louima civil suit.
At the Curcio hearing, the government once again took the position that the conflict resulting from the PBA
retainer was so serious that it could not be waived. Hr'g Tr. dated Sept. 16, 1998, at 4. The district court then
addressed each defendant individually, including the following colloquy with Schwarz:
THE COURT: Mr. Schwarz, tell me what you see here as inconsistencies between your case and Mr. Bruder's
case.
DEFENDANT SCHWARZ: I understand that with this case, there may be some potential conflicts of interest,
one being that my attorney and Mr. Bruder's attorney are now with the same firm. This is a conflict in that
one defendant may receive a better defense at the expense of the other defendant.
I'm also aware of the contract that my attorney has with the PBA. I know that there's another conflict with that,
in that the government may call other police officers who are a member of the PBA or even PBA officials.
There's a concern that possibly my attorney may have another agenda and may not be vigorous in his crossexamination of these witnesses.
I'm also aware of in the calling of witnesses with this potential conflict, with the two lawyers in the same firm.
If they call a witness who-my lawyer may be reluctant to call a witness who may be able to help me but who in
his testimony may be harmful to the other defendant. I understand that there could be a conflict in that.
Other conflict issues were if the government were to offer some type of plea to one defendant, that would
probably be harmful to the other defendant. Also, if there were a guilty conviction, another conflict may be
that my attorney may be reluctant, if he was trying to plead for some type of leniency, he may be reluctant to
try to shift blame on to the other defendant in this case.
․
THE COURT: Do you want to keep your lawyer?
DEFENDANT SCHWARZ: Yes, sir.
Id. at 12-13. After the independent counsel appointed by the district court on behalf of Schwarz told the court
that he had advised Schwarz of all of these conflicts and believed Schwarz understood them, the court accepted
Schwarz's waiver of the right to conflict-free counsel and permitted Worth to continue representing Schwarz,
while Worth's partner London was permitted to continue representing Bruder. Id. at 12, 14.
B. Trial Proceedings
The first trial began on May 4, 1999. See Bruder, 103 F.Supp.2d at 174. It concerned all of the charges
against the defendants except for the single charge of conspiracy to obstruct justice, which had been severed by
the district court, on consent of the government and without objection by the defendants, and would be the
subject of the second trial. See id.; Volpe, 42 F.Supp.2d at 209. The evidence presented to the jury at the
first trial can be summarized as follows: 2
In the early morning hours of Saturday, August 9, 1997, several New York City police officers were summoned
from the 70th Precinct to the Club Rendez-Vous in Brooklyn, New York to disperse a crowd gathered around a
street fight between two of the club's patrons. See Bruder, 103 F.Supp.2d at 159. Appellants Schwarz,
Bruder, and Wiese and defendant Volpe were among the officers who arrived at the scene at approximately
4:00 a.m. See id. The crowd, which had spilled out into the street to watch the fight, was noisy and
boisterous. See id. At one point, Louima had a verbal altercation with Volpe and, while this was going on,

another individual struck Volpe and knocked him to the ground. See id. Volpe thought-mistakenly, as it
turned out-that Louima was the person who struck him. See id. Louima was then arrested and handcuffed
by Schwarz and other officers, including Wiese, who was Schwarz's regular patrol partner, and Officer Eric
Turetzky. See id. at 159-60. Schwarz and Wiese put Louima in the back of their patrol car to be transported
to the 70th Precinct. See id. at 160. It was undisputed that Schwarz drove the patrol car, Wiese sat in the
passenger seat, and Louima sat alone in the back seat. See id. at 159-60, 162.
Louima testified that the patrol car made three stops en route to the stationhouse and that during two of these
stops he was assaulted by Volpe, Schwarz, Wiese, and Bruder. See id. at 160. Because Volpe pled guilty and
the other defendants were acquitted on these charges, none of these alleged assaults are at issue in this appeal.
When the patrol car arrived at the stationhouse, Louima was taken to the front desk. See id. Schwarz
searched him and removed his wallet and cash from his pockets. See id. Turetzky testified that when
Schwarz searched Louima, Louima's pants fell down, and that Schwarz “left the pants down by Mr. Louima's
knees.” See id. at 161. Similarly, Louima testified that “the driver” pulled his pants and underwear down to
his knees. See id. Schwarz and Sergeant Jeffrey Fallon, the desk officer on duty, counted Louima's money,
and Schwarz filled out a “pedigree card” containing basic information about Louima. See id. at 160-61.
Officer Mark Schofield testified that when he returned to the precinct following the events at the Club Rendez
Vous, he saw Volpe standing at the rear of the stationhouse holding a stick-like object two to three feet in
length. Tr.1 at 1575.3 Volpe later approached Schofield when he was standing near the front desk and
borrowed a pair of leather gloves from him. See id. at 1578.
The events that followed the processing of Louima at the front desk were central to the government's case and
were hotly contested at both trials; however, evidence and testimony that strongly contradicted the
government's version of events was not introduced until the second trial. At the first trial, two government
witnesses, Officers Turetzky and Schofield, testified that they saw Schwarz lead Louima away from the front
desk and toward the back area of the stationhouse. See Bruder, 103 F.Supp.2d at 161-62. The back area
contained a room of holding cells and, after a right-hand turn, a bathroom. Turetzky stated that he saw
Schwarz walk Louima to within a few feet of the bathroom. See id. at 162. Both witnesses stated that
Louima's pants were down around his ankles, although Schofield testified that he did not see Louima's bare
buttocks. See id. at 161-62.
Sergeant Fallon testified that Louima was not led away from the front desk until after the pedigree card was
filled out and the cash was counted and returned to Louima. See id. at 161. Similarly, Turetzky told state
investigators that he saw Schwarz “put the [pedigree] card on the top of the [front] desk” before Louima was
led away. See id. Fallon testified that, after receiving the completed pedigree card, he ordered that Louima
be taken to a cell in the back of the stationhouse and that when he gave that order, Schwarz was “right up next
to [Louima]” and “just pretty much [had] control of [him].” See id.
Schofield stated that a few minutes after he saw Schwarz leading Louima to the back of the precinct, he, Wiese,
and other officers, but not Schwarz, waited together by the front desk to go to the hospital, and that a few
minutes later, Volpe “walked out from the back area” and “gave back the gloves that he borrowed” from
Schofield. See id. at 164; Tr.1 at 1583-85.
Louima consistently testified that two officers led him toward and into the bathroom and that both took part in
the assault that took place there. See Bruder, 103 F.Supp.2d at 162-63. However, he could identify only one
of them. Louima was able to identify Volpe, both in court and previously from a photo array, as one of the
men who led him to the bathroom and attacked him there. See id. at 162, 163; Tr.1 at 558-61; 628-29. The
most he could offer about the second officer was that he was “the driver.” Bruder, 103 F.Supp.2d at 162-63.
However, Louima was unable to identify Charles Schwarz, either from a photo array or in court, as the driver.
See id. at 162; Tr.1 at 557-60, 661-62. Louima was never shown a photo array containing Wiese's photo.
Tr.1 at 557-59. Louima testified that the “face ․ and hair style” of the driver and passenger were similar. See
Bruder, 103 F.Supp.2d at 162; Tr.1 at 661.
The government offered evidence to support a finding that Louima's testimony about “the driver” referred to
Schwarz. See Bruder, 103 F.Supp.2d at 162. In addition to the undisputed fact that Schwarz was the driver
of the patrol car and Wiese was the passenger, see id. at 160, Louima's statement that “the driver” handcuffed
him was consistent with Turetzky's testimony that Schwarz was one of the officers that arrested Louima and
put handcuffs on him, see id. at 160, 162, although according to Turetzky, he and Wiese also participated in
handcuffing Louima. See id. at 160; Tr.1 at 1226, 1229-31. Louima also stated that it was “the driver” who
searched him at the front desk. See Bruder, 103 F.Supp.2d at 162. Fallon and Turetzky both testified that
Schwarz searched Louima. See id. And, as we have described, Turetzky and Schofield corroborated
Louima's testimony that it was the driver who led him away from the front desk toward the bathroom. See id.
Once in the bathroom, according to Louima, the driver participated in the assault with Volpe by hitting him,
putting his foot on Louima's mouth when he cried out, and pulling him up by the handcuffs while Volpe
brutally forced a broken broomstick into Louima's rectum. See id. at 163.
Turetzky testified that sometime after seeing Schwarz lead Louima toward the bathroom, he saw Volpe walking
from the bathroom carrying a stick and leading Louima toward the arrest room and holding cells. Tr.1 at
1173-75. On cross-examination, Volpe's defense counsel introduced several portions of an interview of
Turetzky that had been conducted and tape-recorded by investigators of the New York Police Department
Internal Affairs Bureau (“IAB”) on August 15, 1997-six days after the assault on Louima-including the following
colloquy between IAB Captain Barry Fried (“BF”) and Turetzky (“ET”):

BF: Okay. At some point, I believe when we discussed this informally a little bit earlier, you indicated to me
that you did see the prisoner being removed?
[ET]: Yes.
BF: From the bathroom?
ET: From the bathroom.
BF: Tell us about that.
ET: He was rear cuffed still with his pants still below his ankles. When I originally spoke to you I-I didn't
know who was doing it, but if Officer Volpe was standing by the opening, the word openings with the stick, it
couldn't be, it had to be either Officer Schwarz or officer Wiese, but, again, in my mind I'm not clear who was
transporting him.
[]4
BF: And that's fine, and I appreciate your candor. So as you told me earlier you're reiteratingET: Right.
BF: You don't know which officer actually walked out of the bathroom?
ET: Correct, withBF: With that individual.
[․]
[BF:] Officer Schwartz or Schwarz, is that the individual you saw take the defendant into the bathroom?
[ET]: Yes.
BF: You are positive of that?
[ET]: Yes.
BF: And you saw no other officer accompany them in?
ET: No, cause I was walking up the steps.
BF: I understand. You came downstairs; you saw Officer Volpe holding a broken piece of wood.
ET: Piece of wood.
BF: And then you saw a police officer who you can't identify.
ET: Right.
BF: Removing that same defendant from the bathroom?
ET: Correct.
BF: Was the officer-think now, was he white or black?
[]
[ET]: White.
BF: Big or small, tall or short?
ET: Big, big, tall.
BF: As tall as you?
ET: Broader. Ah, tall, but broader.
BF: Right. So big, bigger than you?
ET: I'm-I may be confused with, with a, ah, turn off, I don't know if-what I had told you before was I saw
somebody take the prisoner out of the bathroom and bring him to the cell room.
BF: Right.
ET: Then I saw Officer Volpe standing with a stick.
BF: Right.
ET: I think I'm getting confused with the times. It's very-it very well may be Officer Volpe that exited the
bathroom and then was standing there with a stick, but it only-

BF: Was, wasET: It only took me a minute to walk down the stairs.
BF: I know it's difficult, Eric. We'll go slow.
ET: Sorry.
BF: The scenario that you just presented would have Officer Volpe in the corridor area with a stick in his hand
and now you're suggesting that he may be the one who removedET: Like I said before, I wasn't sure who removed the defendant from the bathroom, but I distinctly remember
Officer Volpe standing there with a stick.
[․]
BF: Why don't you take a moment and try to fix in your mind-there is no rush, just close your eyes, if you want
and get a picture of who is walking this defendant out of the bathroom. Try and fix that in your mind.
[]
ET: Looking back ․ I think-looking ․ Back I think it's Officer Volpe ․ Officer Volpe holding the stick in his right
hand ․
BF: Yes.
ET: ․ Carrying, not carrying, marching the defendant along with his left hand.
Tr.1 at 1243-53 (quoting Ex. 3500 ET1) (alterations other than brackets in original).
After he was placed in the holding cell, Louima asked for and received assistance from a police officer whom he
could not identify. Bruder, 103 F.Supp.2d at 164. Other evidence indicated that it was Bruder. See id.
Later, Louima was taken to Coney Island Hospital, where he was treated for head injuries and underwent
surgery for internal injuries to his bladder and rectum. See id. at 165.
Meanwhile, several officers involved in the events outside the nightclub, including Volpe, Schwarz, Wiese, and
Schofield, drove to New York Community Hospital to be treated for minor injuries. See id. at 164-65. Volpe
shared a patrol car with Schofield and Police Officer Christopher Barr. See id. at 165. Wiese and Schwarz
were in a separate car. See id. Schofield testified that when he, Barr, and Volpe arrived at the hospital,
Volpe remained outside for a few moments, and then came in with Wiese and Schwarz. See id. Schofield
testified that as he entered the hospital's waiting room, he overheard Volpe say, “I broke a man down.” See
id.; Tr.1 at 1588-89. As Volpe said this, he was sitting across from Wiese and about six feet away from where
Schwarz was standing. See Bruder, 103 F.Supp.2d at 165; Tr.1 at 1588-89.
On May 25, 1999, shortly before the scheduled close of the government's case-in-chief, the first trial was
interrupted so that Volpe could plead guilty, out of the jury's presence, to six counts of the superseding
indictment. See id.; Tr.1 at 2645, 2687. During the plea allocution, Volpe stated under oath,
While I was in the bathroom, there was another police officer in the bathroom with me. That police officer
saw what was going on, did nothing to stop it. It was understood from the circumstances that that police
officer would do nothing to stop me or to report it to anyone.
Tr.1 at 2659.
The jury, which would continue to hear evidence on all assault charges against Schwarz, Bruder, and Wiese,
was informed by the district court that Volpe had pleaded guilty. See id. at 2687. The jury was not
presented with any of the details of Volpe's allocution and neither side called Volpe to testify. The district
court instructed the jury that “[t]he fact that defendant Volpe has pleaded guilty can't be used by you as
evidence in determining whether the other defendants ․ are guilty of any of the offenses with which they are
charged.” See id.
Schwarz's principal defense at the first trial was that Volpe acted alone. In opening and closing arguments,
Schwarz's attorney, Stephen Worth, argued that Louima had fabricated the presence of a second officer in the
bathroom to support his claim that the bathroom assault was the result of “systemic” police brutality and not
the actions of one aberrant cop. See Tr.1 at 73-75, 3486-88. During closing arguments, Schwarz's attorney
also suggested that an additional motive for Louima to fabricate the presence of a second officer in the
bathroom was to preserve his “manhood” or “dignity.” See id. at 3491-92.
On June 2, 1999, the jury found Schwarz guilty of participating in and conspiring with Volpe to participate in
the sexual assault of Louima in the bathroom, and acquitted Schwarz, Wiese, and Bruder of the patrol car
assaults. See Bruder, 103 F.Supp.2d at 174.
C. Post-trial Proceedings
Following his conviction, Schwarz moved for a new trial on the ground, among others, that the jury's verdict
was tainted because the jury was exposed to facts that were not in evidence. In support of his motion,
Schwarz submitted three nearly identical affidavits from members of the anonymous jury that had convicted
him. See Volpe, 62 F.Supp.2d at 891. Two of them, executed the same day Schwarz filed his motion, were

signed “Juror # 2” and “Juror # 6.” The third affidavit was unsigned, but appeared to have been prepared for
“Juror No. 3.” Each affidavit stated that the juror contacted Schwarz's attorney after the verdict and “discussed
certain aspects of the jury's deliberations with him.” See id. The jurors asserted that despite their “best
efforts to avoid publicity,” they had learned from one juror during jury deliberations that Volpe had pleaded
guilty to assaulting Louima in the bathroom and “had indicated that he had done this assault ‘with’ another
police officer.” See id. The affidavits also stated that, after the verdict was returned and their service was
completed, the jurors learned through press accounts that “Volpe's attorney had told the prosecutors that a
second police officer was in the bathroom, but that the second officer was not Mr. Schwarz.” See id. The
jurors asserted that had they known about the attorney's statements before reaching a verdict, they would have
had reasonable doubt as to Schwarz's guilt. See id.
The district judge refused to hold an evidentiary hearing and denied the motion for a new trial. He reasoned
that (1) none of the jurors indicated in their affidavits that the first statement-the assertion that Volpe had
admitted the presence of another officer-affected their deliberations; (2) there was ample evidence at trial that
another officer had been present, thus it “could hardly have been news to the jury”-notwithstanding Schwarz's
“fanciful” assertion that Volpe acted alone; (3) jurors are presumed to follow instructions and the jury had
been repeatedly admonished by the district court to ignore extrinsic information and, in particular, had been
told that Volpe's guilty plea had no bearing on the trial; and (4) there are strong policy reasons for not
engaging in a post-verdict inquiry of the jury, including the presumption that jury deliberations were proper
and the impropriety in defense counsel's communicating with the jurors without the district court's permission
or supervision. Id. at 891-93.
D. Prior Proceedings on Appeal
One of appellants' claims on appeal was that the government had violated its disclosure obligations under
Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S.Ct. 1194, 10 L.Ed.2d 215 (1963), by not disclosing compelled statements
taken from appellants' co-workers and other witnesses by the IAB during the course of their investigation into
the Louima assault (the “GO-15 statements”). In order to fully evaluate these claims, we ordered the
government to provide to appellants and this court, under seal and pursuant to a protective order, all of the
GO-15 statements as well as any summaries of those statements or FBI reports of interviews of the GO-15
witnesses, and invited the parties to submit supplemental briefing. See United States v. Volpe, No. 00-1479
(2d Cir. June 28, 2001) (order requiring filing with the Court); United States v. Volpe, No. 00-1479 (2d Cir.
July 6, 2001) (protective order requiring disclosure to defendants).
In their supplemental briefing, appellants argued that several of the newly disclosed statements contained
exculpatory and impeachment material that was improperly suppressed by the government in violation of
Brady. In addition, appellants produced an affidavit that had been obtained by defense counsel and was
executed in April 2001 by retired police sergeant and IAB investigator Patrick Walsh stating that he was the
first officer to interview Turetzky (before the recorded interview by IAB Captain Barry Fried, described above)
and that during that unrecorded interview,
[i]n response to my inquiries concerning how Louima came to be in the bathroom, Turetzky said that he saw
either ․ Wiese or ․ Schwarz walking Louima toward the bathroom, but that Turetzky could not say which officer
it was because he only saw them from the rear and Wiese and Schwarz look alike from that position. I went
over Turetzky's observations with him numerous times, and he repeated each time that he could not tell
whether the officer he saw walking Louima toward the bathroom was Wiese or Schwarz.
Ex. C of White Aff., ¶ 3 at 2.
Because none of the foregoing materials had been reviewed by the district court in deciding various Brady
challenges raised there, and because the Walsh affidavit was likely to be the subject of a fresh motion for a new
trial based on newly discovered evidence pursuant to Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 33, we remanded this
case to the district court using the procedure we enunciated in United States v. Jacobson, 15 F.3d 19, 21-22 (2d
Cir.1994), for the limited purpose of determining whether the Walsh affidavit, either alone or in combination
with the other statements identified by the appellants, provided a basis to order a new trial either on the
ground that the government failed to comply with Brady and Giglio v. United States, 405 U.S. 150, 154, 92 S.Ct.
763, 31 L.Ed.2d 104 (1972), or on the ground of newly discovered evidence. See United States v. Schwarz, 259
F.3d 59, 65 (2d Cir.2001) (per curiam).
On remand, the district court held a hearing at which Turetzky, Walsh, and other investigators involved in the
August 15, 1997 interviews of Turetzky testified. See United States v. Bruder, No. 98 CR 196, 2001 WL
1328461, at *1, *3-*10 (E.D.N.Y. Sept.5, 2001). After reviewing all of the evidence, the district court found
that Walsh's affidavit and his testimony at the hearing-to the effect that Turetzky told him that Louima's escort
to the bathroom could have been either Wiese or Schwarz-were not credible. See id. at *3-*7. With respect
to the other evidence identified by the appellants from the GO-15 statements and related materials produced
pursuant to this court's order, the district court concluded that they “are not Brady material because they are
either inculpatory or immaterial. They would not have undermined any critical element of the prosecution's
case, and were in fact consistent with that case.” Id. at *12.
Based on the foregoing factual findings and credibility determinations, the district court held that appellants
were not entitled to a new trial based either on the government's alleged Brady violations or on newly
discovered evidence because the evidence produced at the hearing was not “material,” and, therefore, “[t]here
is no reasonable probability that [the new evidence] would have put the whole case in such a different light as
to undermine confidence in the verdict.” Id. at *12.

II. Schwarz's Challenges to the First Trial
A. The Conflict of Interest Issue
On appeal, Schwarz, represented by new counsel, argues that the loyalties owed by his trial attorney, Worth, to
the PBA and Worth's pecuniary interest in the PBA retainer created an actual conflict of interest that adversely
affected Worth's representation of him and deprived him of his Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance
of counsel. Schwarz further contends (1) that Worth's conflict was so serious as to be unwaivable and (2) that,
in any event, the waiver he made during the district court's Curcio hearing was ineffective because he was not
specifically apprised and had no reason to believe that Worth's interests in the PBA retainer would conflict
with his defenses in the particular way that they did.
1. The Conflict of Interest
“A defendant's Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel includes the right to representation
by conflict-free counsel.” United States v. Blau, 159 F.3d 68, 74 (2d Cir.1998); see also Wood v. Georgia, 450
U.S. 261, 271, 101 S.Ct. 1097, 67 L.Ed.2d 220 (1981) ( “Where a constitutional right to counsel exists, our Sixth
Amendment cases hold that there is a correlative right to representation that is free from conflicts of
interest.”); Armienti v. United States, 234 F.3d 820, 823 (2d Cir.2000); United States v. Rogers, 209 F.3d
139, 143 (2d Cir.2000); United States v. Levy, 25 F.3d 146, 152 (2d Cir.1994). Whether a defendant's
representation violates the Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel is a mixed question of law
and fact that is reviewed de novo. See Blau, 159 F.3d at 74; United States v. Kliti, 156 F.3d 150, 152-53 (2d
Cir.1998); United States v. Stantini, 85 F.3d 9, 16 (2d Cir.1996).
While a defendant is generally required to demonstrate prejudice to prevail on a claim of ineffective
assistance of counsel, see Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984),
this is not so when counsel is burdened by an actual conflict of interest. Id. at 692, 104 S.Ct. 2052. Prejudice
is presumed under such circumstances. See id.; United States v. Malpiedi, 62 F.3d 465, 469 (2d Cir.1995);
United States v. Iorizzo, 786 F.2d 52, 58 (2d Cir.1986). Thus, a defendant claiming he was denied his right to
conflict-free counsel based on an actual conflict need not establish a reasonable probability that, but for the
conflict or a deficiency in counsel's performance caused by the conflict, the outcome of the trial would have
been different. Rather, he need only establish (1) an actual conflict of interest that (2) adversely affected his
counsel's performance. See Cuyler v. Sullivan, 446 U.S. 335, 348, 100 S.Ct. 1708, 64 L.Ed.2d 333 (1980); see
also Levy, 25 F.3d at 152.
a. The Actual Conflict
“An attorney has an actual, as opposed to a potential, conflict of interest when, during the course of the
representation, the attorney's and defendant's interests diverge with respect to a material factual or legal issue
or to a course of action.” Winkler v. Keane, 7 F.3d 304, 307 (2d Cir.1993) (internal quotation marks omitted).
Schwarz argues that an actual conflict of interest was created when the Worth firm entered into the PBA
retainer.
We need not decide whether the PBA retainer itself created an actual conflict of interest with respect to
Worth's representation of Schwarz at trial because we find that even if the conflict at the time the PBA retainer
was signed could be categorized as only a potential conflict, it became an actual conflict after the Louima civil
suit was filed. As we will explain more fully, the PBA's interests in defending against the civil lawsuit, which
alleged that the PBA, through its agents, and the PBA's president, Matarazzo, participated in a conspiracy to
injure Louima and cover it up, diverged from Schwarz's interests in putting on a defense that would implicate
anyone other than Volpe as participating in the assault in the bathroom. While the Worth firm had been
barred by the district court from formally representing the PBA or any of its members in the Louima civil suit,
Worth nevertheless had an unalloyed duty to the PBA as his client to refrain from any conduct injurious to its
interests. Moreover, because the Worth firm's retainer agreement with the PBA provided that (a) a portion of
the $10 million retainer (which was otherwise payable in equal monthly installments) would be held back and
paid quarterly to ensure the PBA's satisfaction with the Worth firm's performance and (b) the PBA could
unilaterally cancel the contract upon thirty days' notice, and because Worth could expect that satisfaction with
the firm's performance would result in a renewal of the retainer upon its expiration, Worth had a strong
personal interest in refraining from any conduct to which the PBA might object.
Because Louima had consistently maintained that he was assaulted in the bathroom by at least two officers,
Schwarz had an obvious strategic interest in implicating another officer in the bathroom assault from the
moment he was charged with that crime. As further discussed below, that interest became stronger during
the course of his trial. Such a defense, however, could have hampered the PBA in its defense of the Louima
civil suit. As a result, Worth faced an actual conflict between his representation of Schwarz, on the one hand,
and both his professional obligation to the PBA and his self interest, on the other.
b. The Lapse in Representation
The finding of an actual conflict, however, is only the first step in determining whether Schwarz has
established his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. He must also show that the actual conflict adversely
affected Worth's performance by demonstrating that “a ‘lapse in representation’ resulted from the conflict.”
Iorizzo, 786 F.2d at 58 (quoting Cuyler, 446 U.S. at 349, 100 S.Ct. 1708).
To prove a lapse in representation, a defendant must “demonstrate that some ‘plausible alternative defense
strategy or tactic might have been pursued,’ and that the ‘alternative defense was inherently in conflict with or
not undertaken due to the attorney's other loyalties or interests.’ ” Levy, 25 F.3d at 157 (quoting Winkler, 7

F.3d at 309); see also Triana v. United States, 205 F.3d 36, 41 (2d Cir.), cert. denied, 531 U.S. 956, 121 S.Ct.
378, 148 L.Ed.2d 292 (2000). A defendant is not required to show that the lapse in representation affected
the outcome of the trial or that, but for the conflict, counsel's conduct of the trial would have been different.
Malpiedi, 62 F.3d at 469. The forgone strategy or tactic is not even subject to a requirement of
reasonableness. Id. As we have previously recognized,
[t]he test is a strict one because a defendant has a right to an attorney who can make strategic and tactical
choices free from any conflict of interest. An attorney who is prevented from pursuing a strategy or tactic
because of the canons of ethics is hardly an objective judge of whether that strategy or tactic is sound trial
practice.
Id.
(i) The “plausible alternative defense strategy”
Schwarz argues that Worth's loyalties to the PBA caused him to forgo the “plausible alternative defense
strategy” of implicating Wiese as the police officer who escorted Louima to the bathroom with Volpe. Worth
would have known that such a theory was viable in light of proffer statements that Wiese and Bruder had made
during the initial investigation into the assault and that were disclosed to the defendants by the government
before trial. In these proffer statements, Wiese stated that he had escorted Louima towards the bathroom
with Volpe and had later entered the bathroom during Volpe's assault on Louima, while Bruder stated that he
had observed Wiese and Volpe escorting Louima to the bathroom.5 Rather than pursue this strategy, Schwarz
contends, Worth advanced the implausible and factually unsupported theory that Volpe acted alone and that
Louima fabricated the presence of a second officer to demonstrate systemic police brutality and to salvage his
“manhood,” all in an effort to obtain an acquittal for Schwarz without having to implicate another member of
the PBA.
We agree that implicating Wiese as the second officer in the bathroom was a plausible alternative strategy that
Worth did not pursue. In fact, this strategy became a compelling one after Volpe entered a guilty plea before
the defense had begun to put on its case, thereby becoming available to Schwarz as a witness. On May 24,
1999, the day before Volpe's guilty plea, Volpe's attorney told Worth that “my guy [Volpe] can take your guy
[Schwarz] out of the bathroom.” Thus, by the time Volpe pled guilty and allocuted to the fact that there was a
second officer in the bathroom, Worth had the following information: (1) Volpe, the only witness indisputably
in the bathroom with Louima, was willing to testify that Schwarz was not the second officer in the bathroom;
(2) Louima had been unable to identify Schwarz and had acknowledged that Schwarz and Wiese look similar;
(3) both Wiese and Bruder had indicated in their proffer statements that it was Wiese, not Schwarz, who
escorted Louima to the bathroom and that Wiese had actually been in the bathroom with Volpe and Louima;
and (4) as had already been introduced by the defense on cross-examination, the interview tape of Turetzky
indicated some confusion about whether Schwarz or Wiese escorted Louima from the bathroom. With all of
this ammunition, Worth was positioned to try to create a reasonable doubt in the jurors' minds by arguing that
Louima and Turetzky had both mistaken Schwarz for Wiese because they look similar, that the second officer
in the bathroom was Wiese, and that Schwarz was innocent.
Indeed, shortly after the trial and after Volpe's attorney stated publicly that had Volpe been called to testify, he
would have said that Schwarz was not in the bathroom, Worth filed a post-verdict motion for a new trial in
which he himself acknowledged the potential importance of Volpe's testimony. In that motion, which was
based on the allegation that the government violated its Brady obligations by failing to disclose Volpe's
exculpatory statements made during plea negotiations conducted during the trial, Worth argued to the district
court that “[t]he exculpatory value of the disclosure that Mr. Volpe would state that Mr. Schwarz was not in the
bathroom and that the defendant Wiese was the other officer referred to in his plea colloquy is too plain to
require extended explication.” Nevertheless, at trial Worth had doggedly pursued the theory that Volpe acted
alone, a theory the district court later characterized as “fanciful,” Volpe, 62 F.Supp.2d at 892, despite his
knowledge that both Wiese and Bruder had made statements implicating Wiese as the person who escorted
Louima. And he continued to pursue this theory, and eschewed the opportunity to call Volpe to the stand,
despite being told by Volpe's attorney that “my guy can take your guy out of the bathroom.”
The government argues that Worth's decision not to implicate Wiese was made for sound tactical reasons and
that he did not call Volpe to testify because Volpe was not a credible witness. For the reasons we have stated
above, we are unpersuaded. In any event, this argument is beside the point because Schwarz does not need to
prove that the forgone strategy was reasonable or that it would have affected the outcome of the trial, only that
it was a plausible one and that it was forgone.
We also reject the government's claim that Worth actually took steps to implicate Wiese, but was foreclosed
from doing so by evidentiary decisions of the district court. While it is true that Worth sought to sever the
trial and to disqualify Wiese's attorney in order to introduce statements made by Wiese to his attorney, a close
examination of those efforts shows that Worth did so in a manner that sought to avoid implicating Wiese,
which was consistent with the conflict faced by Worth. See Volpe, 42 F.Supp.2d at 211, 213-16. Worth's
basis for seeking to sever Schwarz's trial from Wiese and Bruder's was not that it would allow him to present
the defense that Wiese was the second officer in the bathroom or that Schwarz's defense was otherwise
antagonistic to Wiese's. Rather, he requested a severance to allow Wiese and Bruder to testify only that they
did not see Schwarz escort Louima to the bathroom-and only on the condition that Wiese and Bruder be tried
first. Compare id. at 210-11 (Volpe's motion based on antagonistic claims) with id. at 211 (Schwarz's motion).
In addition, Schwarz's motion to disqualify Wiese's counsel did not seek to introduce Wiese's statement, made
pursuant to his proffer agreement, that it was Wiese who had escorted Louima to the bathroom. See id. at

213-14. Rather, Schwarz sought to introduce different statements, ones to which Wiese's attorney stipulated
Wiese had told Louima's attorneys in connection with Louima's civil action. See id. In an affidavit filed in
support of Schwarz's motion, Worth told the district court that
[Wiese's counsel] agreed that he had told counsel for Abner Louima that Mr. Wiese had told him that “Wiese
did not see Schwarz strike Louima,” that “Schwarz did not go with” Volpe and Louima to the men's room, and
that when he looked into the men's room he saw that only Volpe and Louima were in there.
Aff. of Stephen C. Worth in Support of Omnibus Mot. dated Dec. 1998, ¶ 5, at 5.
The clear import of the stipulated statements was that Volpe acted alone. Presumably, they were made in
response to Louima's allegations in the civil action that his beatings and sexual victimization were the result of
a conspiracy. Significantly, Wiese's “admission” that he, not Schwarz, escorted Louima to the bathroom was
not included among those statements. Volpe, 42 F.Supp.2d at 211, 213-16. In fact, the very reason the
district court denied the disqualification motion was because none of the statements sought to be introduced
were against Wiese's interest, and therefore the statements were inadmissible hearsay. Id. at 211, 215-16.
Similarly, the district court's reason for denying the severance motion was that there was no indication that
Wiese and Bruder would actually testify for Schwarz and because their good faith in seeking to do so was
questionable. Id. at 211. It is unclear, moreover, whether the district court was even made aware of Wiese's
admission either for purposes of the Curcio hearing or for the severance and disqualification motions. See id.;
see also id. at 212 (discussing Wiese's motion to sever on the ground, inter alia, that Bruder had previously
stated that he-Bruder-saw Wiese escorting Louima with Volpe).
(ii) Worth's motivation
We also agree that pursuit of this “plausible alternative strategy” implicating Wiese would have been
“inherently in conflict” with Worth's loyalty to the PBA (and, thus, with his self-interest) and that Worth's
failure to pursue this strategy was almost certainly the result of this conflict. See Levy, 25 F.3d at 157.
Critically, implicating a second officer in the assault would have supported Louima's claim in his civil case that
he was assaulted both in the car and in the bathroom by multiple officers acting in furtherance of a conspiracy.
Casting Volpe as an aberrant officer who acted alone, on the other hand, would likely have been consistent
with any defense advanced in the civil case. Thus, the actual conflict created by the Louima civil suit sharply
intensified at trial when Volpe-the only person who was indisputably in the bathroom with Louima-pleaded
guilty and Volpe's counsel informed Worth that Volpe could provide testimony from which Worth could argue
that Schwarz was not the second officer in the bathroom, a course clearly in Schwarz's interest. Indeed, to put
Volpe on the stand to testify that there was in fact a second officer in the bathroom (who was not Schwarz)
would plainly have been “inherently in conflict with ․ the attorney's other loyalties or interests,” Winkler, 7
F.3d at 309 (internal quotation marks omitted), because it would have provided support for Louima's
conspiracy claim in the civil suit against the PBA.
This conflict would seem to be the only possible explanation for why Worth did not pursue the strategy of
implicating Wiese. No evidence in the record up to then supported the theory that Volpe acted alone, while
both Louima's testimony and Volpe's potential testimony (following his plea) supported a finding that a second
officer participated in the assault. Worth could have relied on Volpe's potential testimony, Louima's inability
to identify Schwarz coupled with the fact that Wiese and Schwarz look similar, and Wiese's own statement that
he had been the officer who escorted Louima to the restroom to argue with considerable force that the second
officer was Wiese. In contrast, he could rely only upon an attack on Louima's credibility to support his
argument that Volpe acted alone-a theory the district court deemed “fanciful”. Under these circumstances,
we are convinced that no effective conflict-free defense attorney would have acted as Worth did, and, thus, only
Worth's conflict could explain his actions. Cf. Ciak v. United States, 59 F.3d 296, 305 (2d Cir.1995) (finding
that only an attorney's “personal interest” could explain a lengthy cross examination on an issue only
marginally related to his client's guilt or innocence).
In short, we conclude that Worth's actual conflict adversely affected his performance in representing Schwarz.
See Cuyler, 446 U.S. at 348, 100 S.Ct. 1708. Accordingly, we find that Schwarz has established a violation of
his Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel due to Worth's conflict unless, as the government
maintains, Schwarz effectively waived the conflict at the Curcio hearing. We now turn to that question.
2. The Waiver
The waiver given by Schwarz at the Curcio hearing would defeat his claim of ineffective assistance of counsel
unless it is determined that (1) the conflict with respect to the PBA retainer was so severe as to be unwaivable,
or (2) the Curcio waiver by Schwarz was not knowing and intelligent with respect to the specific conflict that
led to the lapse in Worth's representation. We need not decide whether Schwarz's waiver was knowing and
intelligent because we conclude that the actual conflict that Schwarz's attorney faced was unwaivable.
In most cases when a defendant is faced with a situation in which his attorney has an actual or potential
conflict of interest, it is possible for him to waive his right to conflict-free counsel in order to retain the
attorney of his choice. See Kliti, 156 F.3d at 153; see also Blau, 159 F.3d at 74. Where an actual or potential
conflict has been validly waived, the waiver cannot be defeated simply because the conflict subsequently affects
counsel's performance; such a result would eviscerate the very purpose of obtaining the waiver.
Not all conflicts may be waived, however. An actual or potential conflict cannot be waived if, in the
circumstances of the case, the conflict is of such a serious nature that no rational defendant would knowingly
and intelligently desire that attorney's representation. See Kliti, 156 F.3d at 153; Levy, 25 F.3d at 153.

Under such circumstances, the attorney must be disqualified, regardless of whether the defendant is willing to
waive his right to conflict-free counsel. See Levy, 25 F.3d at 153.
We enunciated the distinction between waivable and unwaivable conflicts in United States v. Fulton, 5 F.3d
605 (2d Cir.1993). Fulton involved the representation of a defendant by an attorney who had been accused of
participating in criminal activity related to the crimes for which the defendant was on trial. See id. at 607-10.
The district court had advised the defendant of the conflict and had obtained a waiver. See id. at 608. On
appeal, the defendant argued that the waiver was ineffective. See id. at 612.
We agreed. We began by noting that, “[i]n such cases, we must assume that counsel's fear of, and desire to
avoid, criminal charges, or even the reputational damage from an unfounded but ostensibly plausible
accusation, will affect virtually every aspect of his or her representation of the defendant.” Id. at 613. We
then distinguished between conflicts that implicate the attorney's self-interest and those that implicate the
attorney's ethical obligation to someone other than the defendant, noting that the former are “of a different
character” than the latter. Id. We concluded that because the conflict at issue there resulted in counsel's
“[a]dvice as well as advocacy [being] permeated by counsel's self interest, and [because] no rational defendant
would knowingly and intelligently be represented by a lawyer whose conduct was guided largely by a desire for
self-preservation,” the conflict was not waivable. Id.
Although the particular conflict at issue in Fulton belonged to that narrow category of conflicts that we have
deemed to be per se violations of the Sixth Amendment right to counsel, see id. at 611-12; Solina v. United
States, 709 F.2d 160, 168-69 (2d Cir.1983), Fulton 's rationale with respect to when an attorney's self-interest
renders a conflict unwaivable is equally applicable to the unusual facts of this case. As noted above, Worth's
representation of Schwarz was in conflict not only with his ethical obligation to the PBA as his client, but also
with his own substantial self-interest in the two-year, $10 million retainer agreement his newly formed firm
had entered into with the PBA. Like the conflict in Fulton, Worth's conflict “so permeate[ed] the defense that
no meaningful waiver could be obtained.” Fulton, 5 F.3d at 613. We must assume that, under such
circumstances, the distinct possibility existed that, at each point the conflict was felt, Worth would sacrifice
Schwarz's interests for those of the PBA. Indeed, we think it likely that these very concerns motivated the
government to argue to the district court at the Curcio hearing that the conflict created by the PBA retainer
could not be waived. Thus, we conclude that the conflict between Worth's representation of Schwarz, on the
one hand, and his ethical obligation to the PBA as his client and his self interest in the PBA retainer, on the
other, was so severe that no rational defendant in Schwarz's position would have knowingly and intelligently
desired Worth's representation. Cf. id. (“[N]o rational defendant would knowingly and intelligently be
represented by a lawyer whose conduct was guided largely by a desire for self-preservation.”); cf. also United
States v. Arrington, 867 F.2d 122, 129 (2d Cir.1989) (upholding district court's disqualification of attorney
“saddled” with serious conflict where allowing waiver would have required defendant to “forego[ ] the
presentation of ․ evidence that would [have been] of great assistance”).
In sum, we hold that Schwarz's counsel suffered an actual conflict, that the conflict adversely affected his
counsel's representation, and that the conflict was unwaivable. Accordingly, we are required to vacate
Schwarz's conviction in the first trial and remand for a new trial.
B. The Jury Contamination Issue
On appeal, Schwarz argues that the district court erred in denying him a new trial without holding a hearing
on whether the exposure to extrinsic information affected the jury's deliberations. As the district court
observed in denying Schwarz's post-trial motion on this issue, “[t]he sanctity of jury deliberations is a basic
tenet of our system of criminal justice.” Volpe, 62 F.Supp.2d at 893 (internal quotation marks omitted); see
also United States v. Thomas, 116 F.3d 606, 618 (2d Cir.1997) (“The secrecy of deliberations is the cornerstone
of the modern Anglo-American jury system.”). See generally Thomas, 116 F.3d at 618-20 (discussing
importance of maintaining the secrecy of jury deliberations). As a result, “[w]e are always reluctant to ‘haul
jurors in after they have reached a verdict in order to probe for potential instances of bias, misconduct or
extraneous influences.’ ” United States v. Ianniello, 866 F.2d 540, 543 (2d Cir.1989) (quoting United States v.
Moon, 718 F.2d 1210, 1234 (2d Cir.1983)). As we noted in Ianniello,
post-verdict inquiries may lead to evil consequences: subjecting juries to harassment, inhibiting juryroom
deliberation, burdening courts with meritless applications, increasing temptation for jury tampering and
creating uncertainty in jury verdicts. This court has consistently refused to allow a defendant to investigate
“jurors merely to conduct a fishing expedition.”
Ianniello, 866 F.2d at 543 (quoting United States v. Moten, 582 F.2d 654, 667 (2d Cir.1978)) (internal citations
omitted). Nevertheless, a defendant has a constitutional right to be tried by an impartial jury, “unprejudiced
by extraneous influence, and when reasonable grounds exist to believe that the jury may have been exposed to ․
an [improper] influence, the entire picture should be explored. Often, the only way this exploration can be
accomplished is by asking the jury about it.” United States v. Moten, 582 F.2d 654, 664 (2d Cir.1978)
(internal quotation marks and citations omitted). As a result of these conflicting concerns, “[c]ourts face a
delicate and complex task whenever they undertake to investigate reports of juror misconduct or bias during
the course of a trial.” Thomas, 116 F.3d at 618. This case is no exception.
One reason given by the district court below for declining to hold an evidentiary hearing was its view that,
notwithstanding the fact that the jurors initiated the contact with Schwarz's attorney, Schwarz's attorney had
acted improperly in discussing the case with the jurors without first giving notice to the court and opposing
counsel. See Volpe, 62 F.Supp.2d at 892. We have long recognized that “the proper functioning of the jury
system requires that the courts protect jurors from being ‘harassed and beset by the defeated party in an effort

to secure from them evidence of facts which might establish misconduct sufficient to set aside a verdict.’ ”
Moten, 582 F.2d at 664 (quoting McDonald v. Pless, 238 U.S. 264, 267, 35 S.Ct. 783, 59 L.Ed. 1300 (1915));
see also United States v. Crosby, 294 F.2d 928, 950 (2d Cir.1961). As the court in Moten observed:
Human nature is such that some jurors, instead of feeling harassed by post-trial interviewing, might rather
enjoy it, particularly when it involves the disclosure of secrets or provides an opportunity to express misgivings
and lingering doubts. A serious danger exists that, in the absence of supervision by the court, some jurors,
especially those who were unenthusiastic about the verdict or have grievances against fellow jurors, would be
led into imagining sinister happenings which simply did not occur or into saying things which, although
inadmissible, would be included in motion papers and would serve only to decrease public confidence in
verdicts.
Moten, 582 F.2d at 665. In light of these concerns, we have established the requirement that “[a]t a
minimum, ․ notice to opposing counsel and the court should be given in all cases” before engaging in any postverdict inquiry of jurors. Id. at 665-66; see also United States v. Brasco, 516 F.2d 816, 819 n. 4 (2d Cir.1975)
(“[P]ost-trial questioning of jurors must only be conducted under the strict supervision and control of the court
․” (internal quotation marks omitted)).
We fail to see, however, how counsel's allegedly improper unilateral post-verdict discussions with jurors, where
the contact was not initiated by counsel-an averment that we must take as true in the absence of a hearing-is a
basis for denying Schwarz the opportunity for an evidentiary hearing and a judicial determination of whether
he was deprived of his “right to a trial by an impartial jury, unprejudiced by extraneous influence.” See
Moten, 582 F.2d at 664. The importance of this Seventh Amendment right is recognized by Federal Rules of
Evidence, which, while barring jurors from testifying “as to any matter or statement occurring during the
course of the jury's deliberations or to the effect of anything upon that or any other juror's mind or emotions,”
expressly permit testimony concerning “whether extraneous prejudicial information was improperly brought
to the jury's attention or whether any outside influence was improperly brought to bear upon any juror.”
Fed.R.Evid. 606(b).
A “ ‘duty to investigate arises ․ when the party alleging misconduct makes an adequate showing of extrinsic
influence to overcome the presumption of jury impartiality.’ ” Ianniello, 866 F.2d at 543 (quoting United
States v. Barshov, 733 F.2d 842, 851 (11th Cir.1984)). Indeed, in Ianniello, we held that a post-trial hearing
was mandatory “when a party comes forward with ‘clear, strong, substantial and incontrovertible evidence ․
that a specific, non-speculative impropriety has occurred[.]’ ” Id. (quoting Moon, 718 F.2d at 1234)
(alterations in original); cf. King v. United States, 576 F.2d 432, 438 (2d Cir.1978).
We cannot agree with the district court's conclusion that “the juror affidavits submitted by Schwarz do not
present clear evidence of specific improprieties.” See Volpe, 62 F.Supp.2d at 893. The three affidavits in
this case contained clear and specific allegations of inappropriate exposure to extrinsic information, allegations
that were plainly sufficient to satisfy the requirement of “strong, substantial and incontrovertible evidence.”
Ianniello, 866 F.2d at 543. As we have observed, this test “do[es] not demand that the allegations be
irrebuttable; if the allegations were conclusive, there would be no need for a hearing.” Id. We conclude that
the basic averments in the affidavits were sufficiently serious to warrant further inquiry. See id. at 543-44
(“In a case such as this, ‘[t]he trial court should not decide and take final action ex parte ․, but should
determine the circumstances ․ in a hearing with all interested parties permitted to participate.’ ” (quoting
Remmer v. United States, 347 U.S. 227, 229-30, 74 S.Ct. 450, 98 L.Ed. 654 (1954)) (alterations in original)).
Thus, the district court erred in denying Schwarz an evidentiary hearing to determine whether the allegations
were true and, if so, to assess whether he was prejudiced by the jury's exposure to the evidence concerning
Volpe's plea.
The government argues that even if the district court erred in failing to hold an evidentiary hearing, the error
was harmless. In line with the district court's conclusion, see Volpe, 62 F.Supp.2d at 892, the government
argues that Schwarz was not prejudiced by the jury's exposure to the extrinsic information because there was a
“wealth of evidence” at trial that a second officer was present and no evidence whatsoever to support the theory
that there was only one officer in the bathroom.
The government is correct that not every instance of a juror's exposure to extrinsic information results in the
denial of a defendant's right to a fair trial. Many such instances do not. As the Supreme Court has
admonished:
“[D]ue process does not require a new trial every time a juror has been placed in a potentially compromising
situation. Were that the rule, few trials would be constitutionally acceptable․ [I]t is virtually impossible to
shield jurors from every contact or influence that might theoretically affect their vote. Due process means a
jury capable and willing to decide the case solely on the evidence before it, and a trial judge ever watchful to
prevent prejudicial occurrences and to determine the effect of such occurrences when they happen.”
United States v. Olano, 507 U.S. 725, 738, 113 S.Ct. 1770, 123 L.Ed.2d 508 (1993) (quoting Smith v. Phillips,
455 U.S. 209, 217, 102 S.Ct. 940, 71 L.Ed.2d 78 (1982) (alterations in original)); see also United States v.
Wiley, 846 F.2d 150, 157-58 (2d Cir.1988) (upholding district court's determination that jury's exposure to
extrajudicial information was harmless).
To determine whether the jury's exposure to extrinsic information here was harmless-i.e., whether the
exposure prejudiced the defendant's right to a fair trial-we must examine the extrinsic information “on the
basis of the nature of the matter and its probable effect on a hypothetical average jury.” Crosby, 294 F.2d at
950.

With respect to “the nature of the matter,” id., we note that a co-defendant's admission of wrongdoing can be
very powerful evidence against a remaining defendant, and, in this case, news of Volpe's statement that a
second officer was present in the bathroom significantly bolstered the testimony of Louima, who was the only
witness at the first trial to actually place a second officer in the bathroom.
With respect to the information's “probable effect on a hypothetical average jur[or],” id., our analysis is
necessarily affected by the particular effects on such a juror of Worth's quixotic adherence to the one-man-didit theory and his concomitant failure to call Volpe to the stand to testify-both, as we have held above, caused by
his unwaivable conflict of interest. The combined effect of Worth's conflict-impaired lone-rogue-cop defense
and the jury's exposure to portions of Volpe's plea resulted in the worst of all possible worlds for Schwarz's
defense. At the same time that the single-attacker theory was being undermined by the jury's improper
exposure to Volpe's assertion that a second officer was indeed present in the bathroom during the assault,
Schwarz was denied the use of Volpe's complete testimony that the second officer was someone other than
Schwarz. Indeed, a “hypothetical average jur[or]” in such circumstances would likely conclude that Volpe's
“second officer” was in fact Schwarz, because otherwise there was no explanation for Schwarz's failure to call
Volpe to testify.
Accordingly, we cannot dismiss the district court's error in denying an evidentiary hearing on the matter as
harmless. Our next task ordinarily would be to determine the proper remedy for the district court's error in
not holding an evidentiary hearing. Some cases would support a remand for an evidentiary hearing to explore
the truth of the allegations and to assess the prejudicial impact the extrinsic information may have had on the
jury's verdict in order to determine if a new trial were warranted. See Moten, 582 F.2d at 666-67 (collecting
cases). Other cases would support directly ordering a new trial. See, e.g., United States v. Camporeale, 515
F.2d 184, 188-89 (2d Cir.1975). In light of our conclusion that a new trial must be held because of the conflict
of interest of Schwarz's attorney, however, there is no need for us to decide the issue.
THE SECOND TRIAL
I. Factual Background
On February 7, 2000, the second trial of Schwarz, Bruder, and Wiese began. See Bruder, 103 F.Supp.2d at
174. The only count at issue, Count Twelve of the superseding indictment, alleged that beginning in the days
immediately following the assault and continuing until December of 1997, Wiese, Bruder, Schwarz, and others
conspired to obstruct the federal grand jury investigation into the sexual assault of Louima. The indictment
alleged, in pertinent part, that “it was part of the conspiracy that [Bruder and Wiese] would provide false and
misleading information to federal and local law enforcement [officials] in an effort to exculpate [Schwarz] with
respect to the sexual assault” of Abner Louima. See id. at 165. The sole object of the conspiracy as charged
was to engage in conduct that would obstruct or impede a federal judicial proceeding, such as a grand jury
proceeding, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1503.
The government's proof at the second trial concerning the conspiracy fell generally into three categories. The
first category consisted of substantially the same evidence that had been introduced at the first trial pertaining
to the events of the early morning hours of Saturday, August 9, 1997. See id.
The second category consisted of evidence of extensive communications among the three appellants and others
that began shortly after Schwarz and Wiese saw state investigators arrive at the 70th Precinct the morning of
Monday, August 11th and declare the bathroom a crime scene, signaling the beginning of a state investigation
into the assault. See id. at 166, 173. These communications, which continued for the next several months,
included more than 250 telephone calls between Schwarz, Wiese, Bruder, and others allegedly involved in the
conspiracy. See id. Many of these calls were clustered around key turns in the investigations by state and,
later, federal authorities. See id. In addition, there was evidence that Schwarz and Wiese had several
opportunities to speak in person during the course of the investigations. See id. at 166. This category of
proof also included evidence of a meeting of the appellants and others that occurred on August 13, 1997-four
days after the assault on Louima-in the basement of the 70th Precinct stationhouse to discuss a response to
Louima's allegations. The meeting was attended by Volpe, Schwarz, Bruder, Wiese, Officer Michael Immitt,
who was a PBA trustee, Volpe's brother Officer Damien Volpe, who was a PBA delegate, and Hugo Ortega, an
attorney with the law firm that represented the PBA at the time. See id. at 168-69. It was the government's
position that these various communications, as evidenced by their timing and, in some instances, their
substance as testified to by some of the participants, were overt acts of the conspiracy. See id. at 166.
The third category of evidence the government presented to the jury consisted of various statements made by
the appellants or by lawyers on their behalf to law enforcement officials and others during the state and federal
investigations. See id. at 165. As will be described, the accounts of the events of the early morning hours of
August 9, 1997 given by Schwarz, Wiese, Bruder, and Volpe conflicted with the accounts of government
witnesses who testified at the first trial and again at the second trial. See id. at 162. They also conflicted in
varying degrees with one another. See id. The government argued that these stories shifted over time in
response to developments in the investigations, including most prominently the arrest of Schwarz on August
15, 1997. See id. at 165. The indictment charged that two of these statements, one by Wiese to state
investigators on August 17, 1997, and one by Bruder to federal investigators on November 8, 1997, were overt
acts of the alleged conspiracy to obstruct justice. See id. at 166.
The IAB and the Kings County District Attorney's Office (the “DA's Office”) began a state investigation into the
assault the day following the assault, Sunday, August 10. See id. On that day IAB Sergeant William
Hargrove interviewed Louima in the hospital. See id. at 166. The IAB investigators declared the 70th Precinct
stationhouse a crime scene on Monday, August 11, and examined the premises.

On Wednesday, August 13, IAB investigators arrested Volpe. See id. at 169. That same day, the Federal
Bureau of Investigation (the “FBI”) opened a federal investigation into the assaults on Louima, which was
reported in the news media the next day. See id. Early in the morning of Friday, August 15, Turetzky
approached IAB investigators and informed them that he had seen Schwarz leading Louima in the direction of
the bathroom and Volpe holding a stick as he led Louima to the holding cell. See id. at 170. The IAB
arrested Schwarz the same day and he was held at Central Booking in Brooklyn until Monday, August 18, when
he was released on bail. See id.
Officer Michael Immitt, the PBA trustee who had attended the August 13, 1997 meeting in the basement of the
70th precinct stationhouse, testified for the government that, shortly before Schwarz's arrest on August 15,
1997, Wiese told him that after Wiese and Schwarz brought Louima to the stationhouse, Schwarz searched
Louima at the front desk. See id. at 170. Immitt further testified that Schwarz then “started to walk him
away from the desk,” when Volpe arrived and “took control” of Louima in the front hallway near the desk. See
id. According to Immitt, Wiese stated that Volpe, alone, “took Louima to the back of the precinct,” while
Wiese and Schwarz remained near the front desk. See id. Wiese told Immitt that he (Wiese) briefly spoke to
Bruder in the back of the precinct and then returned to the front desk area, and that Schwarz remained near
the front desk “in the front of the stationhouse” until they left together for the hospital. See id.
Immitt further testified that when he visited Schwarz at Central Booking the night Schwarz was arrested,
Schwarz told him “basically the same story that Wiese did”: that as Schwarz started to lead Louima away from
the front desk, Volpe approached him and took control of Louima, and that “Volpe, I know, walked away with
[Louima] by himself.” See id. Schwarz also told Immitt that he “stayed in the front of the stationhouse” and
“never left the vicinity of the front desk.” See id.
On August 16, 1997, the day after Schwarz's arrest, Bruder gave statements to IAB investigators that were
consistent with what Wiese and Schwarz had earlier said to Immitt. See id. at 170-71. In addition, Bruder
told the investigators that when he saw Volpe lead Louima away from the desk, Louima's pants were up. See
id. at 171. Bruder also claimed to have searched Louima in the Arrest Processing Room for any property that
needed to be vouchered. See id. Inside Louima's wallet, Bruder claimed, he found a business card for an “all
male sex club,” which he discarded. See id.
Soon after Wiese, Schwarz, and Bruder made these statements, several newspapers reported that an
unidentified officer had spoken to investigators and had identified Schwarz as the officer who had taken
Louima toward the bathroom. See id. at 171. Presumably these stories were referring to Turetzky's
revelations to the IAB.
On Sunday, August 17-a week after the assault on Louima-Wiese spoke to investigators from the DA's Office
and IAB-including IAB Deputy Inspector James Burns, who testified at trial-subject to a written proffer
agreement under which Wiese's statements themselves could not be used against him except in a prosecution
for perjury or obstruction of justice. See id. at 172. The DA, however, reserved the right to use evidence
derived, directly or indirectly, from Wiese's statements in a criminal prosecution against him.
In contrast to his earlier statements to Immitt (as to which Immitt testified at trial), Wiese now told the state
investigators-according to Burns-that he and Volpe together led Louima away from the desk, and that as they
neared the cell area, Volpe pulled Louima first towards and then into the bathroom. See id. Wiese stated
that he remained outside the bathroom door and that, shortly after Volpe and Louima entered the bathroom,
he heard a “scuffle” inside and “the sound of a body hitting the floor ․ once and then twice more immediately
after that.” See id. Burns testified that Wiese told the investigators that he thought “maybe Officer Volpe was
‘tuning up’ Abner Louima.” See id. After hearing these sounds, Wiese said he remained outside the
bathroom door “petting Midnight the [stationhouse] dog” for a period of “about two minutes.” See id.
Burns further testified that Wiese told the investigators that he then opened the bathroom door and went
inside, along with the dog. See id. Once inside, Wiese “cried out” to Volpe, saying, “What are you, crazy?
What's going on?” See id. Wiese said he saw Louima “handcuffed [and] face down on his belly on the floor
of the bathroom with his head between the toilet ․ and the wall.” See id. Volpe stood over Louima with his
foot on Louima's back, “bending down in a crouched position holding a stick in his hands.” See id. Louima's
pants and underwear were below his knees, and Wiese saw feces, but no blood, on Louima's buttocks. See id.
When asked about Volpe's hands, Wiese said that Volpe was not wearing gloves and that he could not see
blood on Volpe's hands or fingers or under his fingernails. See id. Wiese then went to Louima, “grabbing
[him] by either the ankles or the calves ․ and pulling him out ․, lifting [him] up while he was still rear
handcuffed ․ and pulling him to his feet.” See id. Wiese was leading Louima out of the bathroom when he
heard something, turned around, and saw Volpe “with his hand on Abner Louima's neck and chin with Abner
against the right wall and Volpe holding the stick ․ by Abner Louima's mouth.” See id. Wiese grabbed
Louima and again began heading for the door when “he hears ․ the sound of a punch being thrown, ․ turns
around again and sees [Louima] crumpled over, hunched over and now crying, and [Volpe] with his fist sort of
like in [Louima's] belly or stomach area.” See id. at 172-73. Volpe then “took the stick and flung it ․ [into]
the metal garbage can.” See id. at 173. Throughout the interview, Wiese consistently told the state
investigators that Schwarz was “still at the desk doing what he had been doing before with the pedigree [card]
and the money,” and that he did not see Schwarz leave the front desk area “until they went to the hospital.”
See id.
The next day, Monday, August 18, Bruder's attorney contacted IAB Captain Gilmartin to discuss the possibility
of entering into a proffer agreement similar to Wiese's. See id. Bruder's proffered statement, as stipulated
by the parties at trial, differed in critical respects from Bruder's earlier statement on August 16 to state
investigators, and was similar in key respects to Wiese's August 17 statement. See id.; Tr. 2 at 919. Bruder

for the first time asserted that he had observed Volpe and Wiese escorting Louima toward the bathroom. See
Bruder, 103 F.Supp.2d at 173. According to Bruder, “Volpe [went] into the bathroom with Louima while
Wiese waited outside near the bathroom door playing with a stray dog.” See id.
Gilmartin testified that Bruder's August 18 proffer included an assertion that after seeing Louima escorted
away, he entered the nearby Juvenile Room to process the paperwork for Louima's arrest and that, “sometime
later Bruder was told by Volpe that Volpe had struck Louima in the ass with a stick.” See id. When
Gilmartin asked Bruder's attorney what kind of stick Volpe had spoken about, the attorney left to speak with
his client. See id. He returned and told Gilmartin that it was a “mop handle.” See id. Bruder's proffer
also included the assertion that before he saw Volpe and Wiese escorting Louima into the bathroom, the dog
“defecated on the floor outside the bathroom and Bruder cleaned it up with a mop and put the mop against [a
wall] near the bathroom.” See id.
On August 27, 1997, a federal grand jury was empaneled to investigate the assaults. On November 6, 1997,
FBI Special Agent Richard DeFilippo served Bruder with a grand jury subpoena seeking his memo book from
August 1997. Tr.2 at 1067. On November 8, 1997, Bruder initiated a meeting with two FBI agents, one of
whom was DeFilippo, and representatives of the United States Attorney's Office for the Eastern District of New
York, one of whom was the Assistant United States Attorney, Kenneth Thompson, who had signed Bruder's
document subpoena. Tr.2 at 1066-68, 1093. During this meeting, Bruder entered into a written proffer
agreement in which the United States Attorney agreed not to use Bruder's statements themselves in the
government's case-in-chief or for sentencing purposes for any criminal prosecution against Bruder other than
for false statements, obstruction of justice, or perjury. However, the government reserved the right to use
Bruder's statements to impeach him on cross-examination or to rebut any defense theory put forth by Bruder
and to use any information derived, directly or indirectly, from Bruder's statements in any prosecution against
him.
Bruder's statements to the federal investigators were substantially the same as his proffer statement of August
18 to the IAB and Wiese's August 17 statement to the IAB. See Bruder, 103 F.Supp.2d at 174. Bruder told the
federal investigators that Volpe and Wiese escorted Louima to the bathroom and that Wiese “lagged behind or
stayed in the doorway” as Volpe and Louima entered the bathroom. Tr.2 at 1075. Bruder stated that
Louima's pants were up as he was taken to the bathroom, that Bruder had retrieved a mop from the area of the
bathroom door to clean up after the stationhouse dog, and that he had found an “advertisement for an all male
review” in Louima's wallet, but had discarded it. Id. at 1074-75, 1079. Bruder also told the federal
investigators that while he was at the hospital that evening, Volpe had told him, “I wacked him in the ass with a
mop handle.” Tr.2 at 1077. One new assertion made by Bruder in this proffer was that when he approached
Louima in the jail cell following the assault, he saw Louima on his knees with his pants down and Louima
“appeared to be ‘cracked up,’ and drunk.” Id. at 1077; see Bruder, 103 F.Supp.2d at 174.
Schwarz's only sworn statement concerning the events of August 9, 1997, was his testimony at the second trial.
See id. His testimony differed significantly from his alleged statements of August 15, as testified to by
Immitt. According to Schwarz, as he searched Louima at the front desk, Louima's pants “dropped down to
about his hip area or so,” but Louima's buttocks were never exposed. See id. at 175. Schwarz also said he “had
some difficulty” filling out the pedigree card “because I injured my hand out in the street.” See id. In
contrast to Fallon's and Turetzky's testimony that the pedigree card was completed before Louima was led
away from the front desk, see id. at 161, Schwarz said that he “was filling out the pedigree sheet” when Louima
was led away and that he did not finish his paperwork until after Louima had left the desk. See id. at 175.
Although Immitt testified that Schwarz told him that Volpe escorted Louima alone, see id. at 170, when asked
at trial who took Louima from the desk, Schwarz said, “I think it was Tommy Wiese. I can't say 100 percent,
but I think it was him,” see id. at 175. In addition, while Immitt testified that Schwarz told him that he
(Schwarz) never left the vicinity of the front desk, see id. at 170, Schwarz testified at trial that shortly after
completing the pedigree card and counting Louima's money, he “left the precinct and went out to the [patrol]
car” to search for weapons or contraband Louima may have left behind, in order to comply with police
regulations, see id. at 175. Schwarz testified that he lifted the car seats during the search, despite his injured
hand, and that he did not see anyone else when he went outside or during his search. See id. Schwarz
testified that he then went back into the precinct to find Wiese and go to the hospital. See id. “When I got in,
Tommy [Wiese] ․ was behind the desk ․ grabbing some paperwork.” See id.
During his plea allocution at the first trial, Volpe said, out of the jury's presence, that “in the presence of
another officer, I sodomized Mr. Louima by placing a stick in his rectum.” See id. at 176; Tr. 1 at 2652. As
we noted earlier, Volpe stated that it was understood from the circumstances that the other police officer, who
saw what was going on, would do nothing to stop Volpe or report it to anyone. See Bruder, 103 F.Supp.2d at
176. Volpe did not name the other officer.
The defense called Volpe to the stand at the second trial. Volpe testified that he encountered Wiese leading
Louima away from the front desk, and that Volpe approached and said, “ ‘I got him’ and I put my arm on Mr.
Louima and I took control of him.” See id. at 175. According to Volpe's testimony, Schwarz “was still at the
front desk” at that point. See id. Volpe stated that he led Louima toward the cell area, but “instead of
proceeding straight into the Arrest Room ․, I brought Mr. Louima into the bathroom,” and that Wiese followed
them into the bathroom. See id. Volpe also testified that “Officer Schwarz was not in the bathroom with me
at any point during the assault.” See id. at 176.
Volpe testified that he punched and hit Louima inside the bathroom and sexually assaulted him with the
broken broomstick. See id. at 175-76. According to Volpe's testimony, Wiese was inside the bathroom
throughout the assault, along with the dog, but he did nothing to either stop the assault or assist Volpe:
“[Wiese] didn't do anything․ He never spoke. He never touched Louima.” See id. at 176. Volpe testified

that he acted alone; that Louima's pants were down below his knees so that he could not spread his legs; and
that no one lifted Louima by the handcuffs or held him up during the sexual assault. According to Volpe,
“[t]he whole time during the assault, [Louima] was lying on his stomach.”
The defense witnesses' accounts of Wiese's whereabouts during the assault were contradicted by both Turetzky
and Schofield, who testified at the second trial regarding the location of Wiese before and during the assault.
See id. at 164. Turetzky testified that as he saw Schwarz escorting Louima away, Wiese remained at the front
desk with another prisoner. See id. Schofield testified that a few minutes after he saw Schwarz leading
Louima to the back of the precinct, he saw Wiese speaking to Fallon at the front desk and that his demeanor
seemed normal. See id.; Tr.2 at 627-28.
On March 6, 2000, the jury found Bruder, Schwarz, and Wiese guilty of conspiracy to obstruct justice. See id.
at 174.
II. The Challenge to the Sufficiency of the Evidence in the Second Trial
Appellants' primary contention with respect to the second trial is that their convictions for conspiracy to
obstruct justice in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 371 (the conspiracy statute) and 1503 (the obstruction of justice
statute) must be reversed for insufficiency of the evidence under the Supreme Court's holding in United States
v. Aguilar, 515 U.S. 593, 115 S.Ct. 2357, 132 L.Ed.2d 520 (1995). This conspiracy was charged in Count Twelve
of the indictment, the only count to be tried at the second trial.
Appellants carry a heavy burden in challenging the sufficiency of the evidence. They must establish that,
viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the government, no rational trier of fact could have found
all of the elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. See Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 318-19, 99
S.Ct. 2781, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1979); United States v. Vasquez, 267 F.3d 79, 90 (2d Cir.2001); United States v.
Desimone, 119 F.3d 217, 223 (2d Cir.1997). Nevertheless, we agree that, under the teaching of Aguilar, the
evidence was insufficient to convict the appellants and that their convictions must be reversed.
The particular provision that appellants were convicted for conspiring to violate is the so-called “omnibus
clause” of § 1503, which prohibits anyone from “corruptly or by threats or force, or by any threatening letter or
communication, influenc[ing], obstruct[ing], or imped[ing], or endeavor[ing] to influence, obstruct, or impede,
the due administration of justice.” 18 U.S.C. § 1503. The phrase “administration of justice” in this statute
has been authoritatively construed to require a pending federal judicial proceeding, such as a federal grand
jury proceeding. See Aguilar, 515 U.S. at 599, 115 S.Ct. 2357.
In order to convict for conspiracy to obstruct justice under § 1503, the government must establish (1) that
the defendant (a) knowingly entered into an agreement with another, (b) with knowledge, or at least
anticipation, of a pending judicial proceeding, and (c) with the specific intent to impede that proceeding; and
(2) the commission of at least one overt act in furtherance of the conspiracy. See, e.g., United States v. Davis,
183 F.3d 231, 243 (3d Cir.1999); United States v. Mullins, 22 F.3d 1365, 1368 (6th Cir.1994); United States v.
Messerlian, 832 F.2d 778, 793-94 (3d Cir.1987), abrogated on other grounds, Graham v. Connor, 490 U.S. 386,
109 S.Ct. 1865, 104 L.Ed.2d 443 (1989); United States v. Ardito, 782 F.2d 358, 361 (2d Cir.1986). The
government's proof at trial fell short of meeting these requirements.
A. The Agreement
The evidence at trial was plainly sufficient for a jury, if it accepted the government's version of what happened,
to find that, soon after the state investigation into Louima's assault began, Schwarz, Bruder, and Wiese agreed
generally to impede investigators by putting forth and corroborating a false version of what occurred. Amid
numerous communications among the appellants and others at key points during the investigations, appellants
offered parallel accounts that evolved as other evidence in the case surfaced. For instance, all three appellants
initially made statements to IAB investigators and others to the effect that Volpe alone escorted Louima to the
bathroom, while Wiese and Schwarz remained at the front desk. After news accounts revealed a few days
later that the authorities had an account that Schwarz escorted Louima to the bathroom, Bruder and Wiese
both changed their earlier stories to assert to state and federal investigators that Wiese, not Schwarz,
accompanied Volpe in escorting Louima, while Schwarz stayed at the front desk. There was evidence from
other witnesses, however, that Schwarz did not remain at the front desk at all times. Schofield and Turetzky,
for example, testified that Schwarz escorted Louima to the rear of the stationhouse and Fallon testified that
when he looked up, both Schwarz and Louima had left the front desk. Faced with this discrepancy, Schwarz
testified at the second trial that he left the front desk to search the patrol car.
There is little need to recite in further detail all of the evidence that would have supported a jury finding that
the appellants agreed to mislead both state and federal investigators. If this had been the object of the
conspiracy charged, we have no doubt that such a jury verdict would be upheld. See, e.g., 18 U.S.C. § 1001
(providing, in relevant part, for the imposition of criminal penalties on “who[m]ever, in any matter within the
jurisdiction of the executive ․ branch of the Government of the United States, knowingly and willfully-․ (2)
makes any materially false ․ statement or representation.”). The object of the conspiracy charged in Count
Twelve of the superseding indictment, however, was a precise one; it was a violation of § 1503. Therefore the
question we must answer is a narrow one: whether the scope of the agreement shown at trial included as its
object conduct falling within the prohibitions of § 1503, which we discuss below.
B. Knowledge of the Pending Federal Grand Jury
The second element of the conspiracy count concerns whether the appellants entered into their agreement, or
continued a preexisting agreement, to obstruct justice with knowledge that there was a pending federal judicial

proceeding, here a federal grand jury investigating the Louima assault.
We note at the outset that the government argues it did not have to prove that the federal grand jury had
convened at the time the conspiracy began, only that the appellants-as experienced police officers-could have
anticipated that a case such as this would result in a federal grand jury proceeding. In support of this point,
the government cites United States v. Messerlian, 832 F.2d 778 (3d Cir.1987), the facts of which are strikingly
similar to this case but for the significant difference that the police officers convicted in Messerlian directly lied
to the grand jury that convened two years after the conspiracy to obstruct began. We read Messerlian as
standing for the proposition, with which we have no quarrel, that a judicial proceeding need not be pending at
the time the conspiracy began so long as the appellants had reason to believe one would begin and one in fact
did. See id. at 794; see also Davis, 183 F.3d at 243 & n. 3; United States v. Vaghela, 169 F.3d 729, 734-35
(11th Cir.1999). But, as the Supreme Court has made clear, knowledge of an existing grand jury investigation
or the foreseeability of such an investigation, by itself, is not enough to sustain a conviction under § 1503.
The government also argues that, even if actual knowledge of a pending grand jury proceeding were required,
such knowledge was established in this case by newspaper articles that reported the commencement of a
federal investigation into the assaults in August 1997 and by the fact that Bruder was served with a grand jury
document subpoena on November 6, 1997, two days before he made allegedly false statements to federal
investigators and prosecutors. We agree with the government that Bruder's knowledge of the federal grand
jury investigation was directly established. As for the other appellants, we note that there was no evidence at
the second trial that they received grand jury subpoenas of any kind or spoke with Bruder or each other
between November 6, 1997, the day Bruder received his subpoena, and November 8, 1997, the day he came
forward to federal investigators and prosecutors. But we need not finally decide whether their knowledge was
established because, as discussed below, we conclude that there was insufficient evidence to support a jury
finding that the appellants intended to engage in conduct that would violate § 1503.
C. Intent to Obstruct the Federal Grand Jury
The third element of the conspiracy charged in the indictment, and the one upon which the government's case
founders, requires that the appellants have specifically intended to obstruct the federal grand jury proceeding.
The only evidence that tied appellants' conduct to the federal investigation and thus the federal grand jury
proceeding, was Bruder's statements to federal investigators on November 8, 1997. In order to convict
appellants of conspiracy to obstruct justice in violation of § 1503, therefore, the government had to show, at a
minimum, that Bruder made these statements with the specific intent to obstruct the federal grand jury.
Critical to our analysis of whether this element has been satisfied, and ultimately dispositive as to the
sufficiency of the evidence on Count Twelve, is the Supreme Court's interpretation of § 1503 in United States
v. Aguilar, 515 U.S. 593, 115 S.Ct. 2357, 132 L.Ed.2d 520 (1995), a case in which the Court reversed a § 1503
conviction of a federal district judge who, like Bruder in this case, gave false statements to federal investigators
while a federal grand jury investigation was underway.
Judge Aguilar was being investigated for his alleged participation in efforts to influence the outcome of a
habeas corpus petition filed by an associate of one Abraham Chalupowitz, a.k.a. Abe Chapman, who was an
acquaintance of Aguilar. Id. at 595-96, 115 S.Ct. 2357. The investigation was also examining whether Judge
Aguilar improperly disclosed to Chapman that Chapman's phone was being wiretapped. Id. at 596-97, 115
S.Ct. 2357. When the judge was interviewed by two FBI agents, he lied about his participation in the habeas
case and falsely denied any knowledge of the wiretap. Id. at 597, 115 S.Ct. 2357. During the course of the
interview, Judge Aguilar asked the FBI agents if he was the target of a federal grand jury investigation and was
told that a grand jury was investigating this issue. Id. at 597, 600, 115 S.Ct. 2357. Specifically, one agent told
Aguilar that “[t]here is a Grand Jury meeting ․ some evidence will be heard I'm ․ I'm sure on this issue.” Id. at
600, 115 S.Ct. 2357.
The critical question in Aguilar was whether the evidence could support a finding that Judge Aguilar's
statements to the federal investigators were made with the specific intent to obstruct the federal grand jury
investigation, as required by § 1503. The Court construed the element of intent in § 1503 to contain a
“nexus” requirement that is satisfied only when the defendant's conduct has some “relationship in time,
causation, or logic” to a judicial proceeding, such as a federal grand jury proceeding, so that it may be said to
have the “natural and probable effect” of interfering with that judicial proceeding. Id. at 599-600, 601, 115
S.Ct. 2357.
Applying this interpretation, the Supreme Court affirmed the Ninth Circuit's reversal of Judge Aguilar's
conviction. His “uttering [of] false statements to an investigating agent ․ who might or might not testify
before a grand jury” was insufficient to establish a violation of § 1503 because it failed to establish that the
judge acted with the specific intent to obstruct the federal proceeding; all it proved was “an intent to influence
some ancillary proceeding, [here] an investigation independent of the ․ grand jury's authority.” Id. at 599,
600-01, 115 S.Ct. 2357. The Court further held that the judge's knowledge that there was a pending federal
grand jury, and thus his awareness of the possibility that his deceptions might be put before it, was insufficient
to establish the required specific intent because there was no indication that the judge knew that the
investigating officers interviewing him were going to testify at the grand jury. Id. at 600-01, 115 S.Ct. 2357.
The appellants here argue that, as in Aguilar, the evidence at trial proved at most that they made false
statements to state and federal investigators, and, therefore, was insufficient to support their convictions.
The government argues that Aguilar is inapposite because it concerned the sufficiency of the evidence to
support a conviction for a substantive § 1503 violation, whereas here only a conspiracy was charged so that the
government was not obligated to prove that the conduct at issue violated § 1503. But to prove a conspiracy,

the government must show that the defendants “knowingly engaged in the conspiracy with the specific intent
to commit the offense[ ] that [was] the object[ ] of the conspiracy.” United States v. Samaria, 239 F.3d 228,
234 (2d Cir.2001); see also Vaghela, 169 F.3d at 732 (11th Cir.1999) (“To be guilty of conspiracy ․ parties must
have agreed to commit an act that is itself illegal․ [T]he government must therefore show that the defendant, in
concert with ․ others, agreed to commit acts that would violate 18 U.S.C. § 1503”); United States v. Bufalino,
285 F.2d 408, 416 (2d Cir.1960). This the government has failed to do.
The thrust of the Court's opinion in Aguilar is that § 1503 requires a specific intent to obstruct a federal
judicial or grand jury proceeding. Accordingly, the conduct offered to evince that intent must be conduct that
is directed at the court or grand jury and that, in the defendant's mind, has the “natural and probable effect” of
obstructing or interfering with that entity. Aguilar, 515 U.S. at 599, 115 S.Ct. 2357. After articulating the rule
of Aguilar that “[t]he action taken by the accused must be with an intent to influence judicial or grand jury
proceedings,” the Court found that the judge's false statements to investigators did not meet this requirement
because his
conduct ․ f[ell] on the other side of the statutory line from that of one who delivers false documents or
testimony to the grand jury itself. Conduct of the latter sort all but assures that the grand jury will consider
the material in its deliberations. But what use will be made of false testimony given to an investigating agent
who has not been subpoenaed or otherwise directed to appear before the grand jury is far more speculative.
Id. at 599, 601, 115 S.Ct. 2357.
At oral argument before us, the government urged that this case is distinguishable from Aguilar because
Bruder initiated a meeting with the federal investigators and prosecutors that had served him with a federal
grand jury subpoena for his documents. The government contends that Bruder's conduct was sufficient to
demonstrate that he intended to influence the grand jury. The government in Aguilar made a similar
argument-namely, that because the judge had been informed that there was a pending grand jury investigation
into the matter, the judge “ ‘understood that his false statements would be provided to the grand jury’ and that
he made the statements with the intent to thwart the grand jury investigation.' ” Id. at 600, 115 S.Ct. 2357.
However, the Supreme Court rejected this argument on the ground that the judge's mere knowledge of the
pending grand jury investigation “would not enable a rational trier of fact to conclude that respondent knew
that his false statement would be provided to the grand jury,” id. at 601, 115 S.Ct. 2357 (emphasis added). We
must do so here for the same reason.
We see no meaningful distinction between this case and Aguilar. The fatal defect in the government's case
is that there was no showing that Bruder, who had been subpoenaed only for his memo book, knew that the
allegedly false statements he made to the federal investigators on November 8, 1997 would be conveyed to the
federal grand jury. Bruder had not himself been called to testify and there is no evidence that the
investigators gave him any indication that they would repeat his statements to the grand jury. He may have
hoped that they would be provided to the grand jury, and surely there was that possibility; but there was
insufficient evidence to “enable a rational trier of fact to conclude that [Bruder] knew” that this would happen
or that he entertained any expectations on that score that were based on such knowledge. At best, the
government proved that Bruder, knowing of the existence of a federal grand jury investigation, lied to federal
investigators regarding issues pertinent to the grand jury's investigation. The government has therefore failed
to offer sufficient evidence of Bruder's intent to obstruct the federal grand jury for “if the defendant lacks
knowledge that his actions are likely to affect the judicial proceeding, he lacks the requisite intent to obstruct.”
Aguilar, 515 U.S. at 599, 115 S.Ct. 2357.
Because Bruder was the only alleged conspirator to have engaged in conduct directed toward federal
investigators, the absence of sufficient evidence to establish Bruder's specific intent to obstruct the federal
grand jury means that there was insufficient evidence to permit a reasonable jury to conclude beyond a
reasonable doubt that obstruction of the federal grand jury fell within the scope of the alleged conspiratorial
agreement. While there may have been sufficient evidence to support appellants' convictions for conspiracy
to engage in conduct violative of other federal statutes, such as 18 U.S.C. § 1001 (prohibiting giving materially
false statements to federal officials), appellants were not charged with participating in such a conspiracy-they
were charged with conspiracy to violate 18 U.S.C. § 1503. The government failed to prove the charged
conspiracy beyond a reasonable doubt. See Aguilar, 515 U.S. at 599-601, 115 S.Ct. 2357.
In conclusion, we find that the evidence was insufficient to support appellants' convictions for conspiracy to
violate 18 U.S.C. § 1503. Accordingly, we reverse the convictions. Because the Double Jeopardy Clause
precludes retrying appellants with respect to these charges, see Burks v. United States, 437 U.S. 1, 18, 98 S.Ct.
2141, 57 L.Ed.2d 1 (1978), we direct entry of a judgment of acquittal as to Count Twelve of the indictment.
REMAINING CLAIMS
Appellants have raised several additional challenges to their convictions. In light of our disposition with
respect to both trials, we do not address these claims and express no opinion as to their merit.
CONCLUSION
For the foregoing reasons, we hold that appellants' convictions on Count Twelve for conspiracy to obstruct
justice under §§ 371 and 1503 must be Reversed because there was insufficient evidence to support them, and
we direct entry of a judgment of acquittal as to all defendants on that count (Docket Nos. 00-1479, 00-1483,
and 00-1515). In addition, we hold that Schwarz's conviction on Counts One and Four for civil rights
violations and conspiracy must be Vacated and Remanded for a New Trial because (1) an unwaivable actual
conflict of interest adversely affected his attorney's performance and (2) the jury's exposure to extrinsic

information during jury deliberations, when considered with other circumstances in this case, gives rise to a
reasonable probability that the outcome of the jury's verdict would have been different (Docket No. 00-1479).
The mandate shall issue forthwith.
FOOTNOTES
1.

The facts of this case have been recited in numerous decisions from this court and the district court below.
See, e.g., United States v. Schwarz, 259 F.3d 59 (2d Cir.2001); United States v. Volpe, 224 F.3d 72 (2d

Cir.2000); United States v. Bruder, No. 98 CR 196, 2001 WL 1328461 (E.D.N.Y. Sept.5, 2001); Bruder, 103
F.Supp.2d at 155; United States v. Bruder, No. 98 CR 196, 2000 WL 290269 (E.D.N.Y. Feb.5, 2000); Volpe,
78 F.Supp.2d at 76; United States v. Volpe, No. CR 98-196, 1999 WL 1129053 (E.D.N.Y. Oct.19, 1999); United
States v. Volpe, 62 F.Supp.2d 887 (E.D.N.Y.1999); Volpe, 42 F.Supp.2d at 204. Accordingly, we recount only
those facts pertinent to this appeal.
2.

Except where disputed by the parties, the facts are substantially as reported in the district court's

thorough and detailed opinion on sentencing. See Bruder, 103 F.Supp.2d at 159-76. For ease of reference,
quoted testimony is cited to the district court opinion when quoted in that opinion as well.
3.

References to the transcript of the first trial are preceded by “Tr.1,” while references to the transcript from

the second trial are preceded by “Tr.2.”
4.

Omissions of trial proceedings distinct from the transcript of the tape-recorded interview are indicated by

empty brackets (“[ ]”), while omissions of portions of the tape-recorded interview itself, which were omitted at
the trial, are reflected by brackets containing an ellipsis (“[․]”).
5.

These proffer statements and the circumstances surrounding them are discussed in greater detail in Part I

of the Second Trial.
JOHN M. WALKER, JR., Chief Judge.
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